#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

In ruling upon Petitioner's motion to suppress:

- 1. The Circuit Court erred when it found that the extraterritorial *Terry*<sup>1</sup> investigative stop of Petitioner's vehicle by the Town of Granville police officer, more than two (2) miles beyond his jurisdiction, was "performed in concert with officers who were within their territorial jurisdiction;"
- 2. The Circuit Court erred when it concluded that articulable reasonable suspicion existed to conduct the extraterritorial *Terry* investigative stop of Petitioner's vehicle by the police officer "based on the BOLOs and his observations;"
- 3. The Circuit Court erred when it concluded that "reasonable grounds" existed for the extraterritorial *Terry* investigative stop of Petitioner's vehicle, his subsequent roadside warrantless arrest, and the roadside plain-view search of his vehicle;
- 4. The Circuit Court erred when it concluded that the "holdings of *Gutske* and *Horn* are not applicable under the set of facts of this case;"
- 5. The Circuit Court erred when it concluded "that the Statement of Rights form used by the Morgantown Police Department is a clear, understandable, comprehensive, accurate, effective, and informative tool for achieving the objective of apprising individuals of their rights when being questioned by law enforcement personnel," as mandated by the holding in *Miranda*;
- 6. The Circuit Court erred when it found "[t]he time period between when Petitioner was taken into custody, transported to the police station, and when he made his statement was not a delay in order to obtain a confession" and that "[n]ormal police/judicial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968).

procedure was followed in this case in processing Defendant Skidmore," in compliance with the prompt presentment rule; and,

7. The Circuit Court erred when it failed to apply the totality of the circumstances standard in determining the voluntariness of Petitioner's confession in light of undisputed evidence of delay in appearing before a judicial officer, Petitioner's intoxication, and the promises made by Detective Trejo prior to the commencement of the custodial interrogation resulting in Petitioner's confession.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The relevant procedural history establishes that Petitioner was indicted by the May 2017 Monongalia County Grand Jury. The two-count indictment charged that, on March 5, 2017, Petitioner and two others committed robbery in the first degree and conspiracy. (A.R. 1-2). Upon receiving the State's discovery and conducting pretrial investigation, it was determined that serious constitutional and procedural issues existed in this case. Accordingly, on June 21, 2017, Petitioner timely filed his motion to suppress and related pretrial motions. (A.R. 3-4). Thereafter, four evidentiary hearings were held on the motions to suppress filed by Petitioner and his Co-Defendants. On September 18, 2017, the Circuit Court heard argument of counsel following briefing of the issues presented. (A.R. 238-269).

Importantly, on September 25, 2017, counsel were informed that the Circuit Court intended to deny the motions to suppress. The next day, on September 26, Petitioner entered into the *Conditional Plea Agreement*, presented his *Conditional Plea of Guilty* to the Circuit Court at the Rule 11(a)(2) plea hearing. (A.R. 270-274). The *Plea Order* was entered on November 7, 2017. (A.R. 275-279). The Circuit Court entered its *Order Denying Defendant's Motion to* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petitioner's Co-Defendants are Gordon W. Swiger and Nikolas Lee Velez, and they have filed Petitions for Appeal in this Court, and their case numbers are: No. 18-0160; and No. 18-0161, respectively.

Suppress Evidence on December 15, 2017. (A.R. 280-295). On January 23, 2018, Petitioner was sentenced, pursuant to the Conditional Plea Agreement, to a period of incarceration at the Anthony Center for a period of six (6) months to two (2) years. (A.R. 296-299). The Sentencing Order was entered on January 26, 2018. (A.R. 296-299). To date, Petitioner remains confined to the Anthony Center.

The relevant factual information developed in this case reveals that the armed robbery incident giving rise to the filing of the indictment occurred on March 5, 2017, at approximately 7:25 p.m. (1925 hours). (A.R. 316). The location of the alleged crime was a student apartment building located at 221 Willey Street, Morgantown, Monongalia County, West Virginia. This specific location is within the corporate municipal boundaries of the City of Morgantown and within the statutory jurisdiction of the Morgantown Police Department, as authorized by West Virginia Code § 8-14-3.

The initial report of the alleged crime was made by telephone by Brett M.

McIntyre to MECCA 911 at 2132 hours, nearly two hours after the incident, as documented on the police report. (A.R. 300, 316, 335). The first police officers to arrive at the scene were Morgantown Police Department Patrolmen Frantz (647) and Palmer (666);<sup>3</sup> and the time documented for their arrival was 2135 hours. (A.R. 300). Based upon information provided by Morgantown Police Department Patrolman Rhodes (613), an initial BOLO (Be On The Lookout) was transmitted by MECCA at 2140 hours that included information about the nature of the crime reported (armed robbery), its location (221 Willey Street), the description of the perpetrators (three white males wearing masks and black sweatshirts), and the description of the weapon used (one male armed with a rifle). There was no known direction of travel by these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Police officer unit numbers or identifiers are included for reference when evaluating the record of MECCA radio transmissions and documentations in this case.

three perpetrators as they left the scene. (A.R. 300, 335). Importantly, no identifying vehicle information was provided in the initial BOLO, and no information was given that a vehicle was used in the commission of the crime. (A.R. 300, 335).

Thereafter, Morgantown Police Department Patrolman Cantis (652) arrived at the scene at 2138 hours. (A.R. 300). He waited until the owner of the adjacent building, located at 211 Willey Street, came to review the security videos in an attempt to continue the investigation. (A.R. 170-173). Officer Cantis testified that he reviewed the security video and determined that a white vehicle had entered the municipal parking lot adjacent to 221 Willey Street. (A.R. 170). However, Officer Cantis admitted that he could not see where the vehicle was parked, could not see the identity of any of the occupants, could not tell whether any individuals meeting the description of the perpetrators either exited or entered the vehicle, and could not see the vehicle's direction of travel upon leaving the parking lot, after it was seen moving in the lot for a brief period of time. (A.R. 170-177). Importantly, Officer Cantis also admitted that he could not identify any license plate number on the vehicle and that he could not initially identify the make and model of the vehicle but, instead, had to rely upon a subsequent Google internet search to do so. (A.R. 174-175). Officer Cantis then stated that he was the Morgantown Police Department officer who provided the vehicle information (make and model only) to MECCA, resulting in the second BOLO being transmitted at 2140 hours. (A.R. 180-185).

The record reveals that the second BOLO transmitted by MECCA at 2140 hours included the description of the vehicle to be an all-white, four-door sedan, make Audi A4. (A.R. 335). No further information was provided to MECCA, such as the direction of travel of the suspects' vehicle, its model year, or any license plate number known or observed. (A.R. 158-200, 338, 340). At some time between 2240 and 2242 hours, Granville Patrolman Huyett (313)

observed a white, four door Audi A4 sedan pass his parked cruiser on Dents Run Road in the Town of Granville, and he began to follow the Audi in his cruiser. Also at 2240 hours, Morgantown Police Department Patrolman Meador (642) requested that MECCA run West Virginia license plate number 9XL 635. (A.R. 335). MECCA responded at 2241 hours and stated the vehicle was a 2007 white Audi A4 registered to John Skidmore, of Clarksburg, West Virginia. (A.R. 335). At 2242 hours, Patrolman Huyett (313) also requested a check on license plate number 9XL 635 through MECCA 911. (A.R. 335). At the same time, MECCA records show that the dispatcher then asked Officer Meador (642) if he "had reason to know this vehicle," to which he responded, "Negative—I was just running it because I stopped the vehicle a couple days ago." (A.R. 335). Officer Meador (642) then asked which (Granville) unit had run the license plate number, to which MECCA responded, "313," which was known to be Patrolman Huyett's unit number. (A.R. 331-334, 335).

A careful review of Patrolman Huyett's (313) dash cam videos reveals that, at the time of the first BOLO transmitted at 2140 hours, he may not have been in his police cruiser and, therefore, would not have heard, *via* BOLO, the location of the alleged crime or the description and number of the perpetrators and what they were wearing and whether they had weapons.

(A.R. 331-332). Moreover, a careful review of the MECCA audio CD (A.R. 335-336) reveals that Officer Meador (642), who was actively monitoring and communicating with MECCA and other police officers concerning this matter, directed MECCA to re-transmit the description of the perpetrators to Patrolman Huyett (313) after he had run the license plate of Petitioner's vehicle while he was following it. Therefore, the only reasonable conclusion to reach from this series of transmissions, from the review of dash cam video clips, and from Patrolman Huyett's report (A.R. 304) is that Patrolman Huyett relied solely upon the limited information transmitted

via the second BOLO, which was the minimal description of the color, make, and model of the vehicle and nothing more.

A review of Patrolman Huyett's testimony, his report, and his dash cam video footage reveals that he did not observe Petitioner's vehicle violating any traffic law or otherwise observe him or the occupants committing any misdemeanor or felony offense. (A.R. 11-44, 304, 331-332). The dash cam video from Patrolman Huyett's cruiser confirms there was no factual or legal basis to effectuate a traffic stop of Petitioner's vehicle other than the BOLO previously transmitted by MECCA. (A.R. 331-332). As the radio communication continued, at 2242 hours, Sergeant Slagle (330) communicated directly with Patrolman Huyett (313) that he could get a county or state police unit "headed that way." (A.R. 333-334). At that time, Patrolman Huyett (313) radioed that he was already on I-79 South and continuing to follow Petitioner's vehicle. (A.R. 331-334). After following the vehicle for a short distance, and based solely on the information contained in the BOLOs, Patrolman Huyett activated his emergency lights and performed a traffic stop of Petitioner's vehicle at the mile marker 151.5 on I-79 South, at approximately 2245. (A.R. 331-332). Detective Trejo (622) also testified that the stop made by Patrolman Huyett at mile post 151.5 was approximately four or five miles outside the municipal limits of the City of Morgantown. (A.R. 30).

Patrolman Huyett testified during the hearing he knew at the time he entered I-79 South and at the time of the stop of Petitioner's vehicle that he was approximately two to two and one-half miles outside his jurisdiction as a police officer employed by the Town of Granville, West Virginia. (A.R. 15). When Sergeant Slagle (330) radioed MECCA and Patrolman Huyett (313) that he could get another police agency with broader authority beyond the Town of Granville's jurisdiction "headed that way," it was clearly known and understood by

these police officers that the stop of Petitioner's vehicle would be outside their lawful jurisdiction. At that time and place, Patrolman Huyett and Sergeant Slagle must be deemed to have been acting as private citizens effectuating an arrest. Otherwise, it would be a clear violation of the color of office doctrine to allow them to conduct the extraterritorial stop to investigate based upon the BOLOs transmitted. In this regard, it is critical to understand that the State agreed with the Court's question posed during the September 18, 2017 hearing that "what you're looking at this as [sic] is more along the lines of a Terry v. Ohio stop?" (A.R. 255).

From the testimony provided by Patrolman Huyett and the telling representations made by counsel for the State during argument on September 18, 2017, it is clearly established that:

[MR. NOEL]: Now, the timeline continues. The Granville Police Department stop — the Huyett stop. I don't think we should call it the Slagle stop, because, in fairness, I don't believe that Slagle was involved in the initial stop. I think that Huyett was solely responsible for that stop, and that stop occurred at 10:45 P.M. I believe it's fair to say that. Now, Sergeant Slagle arrived shortly after Officer Huyett made the stop, and I don't believe that Officer Huyett attempted to get the suspects out of the vehicle until Sergeant Slagle was on scene. (Emphasis added.)

(A.R. 254).

Likewise, contrary to the Circuit Court's finding used to deny the suppression motions, the following representation made by counsel for the State during argument acknowledges the absence of any police officer with territorial jurisdiction at the time and place of the stop of Petitioner's vehicle:

[MR. NOEL]: Now, the Court had asked about whether or not there was a Mon County Sheriff's deputy on scene. I believe that if the Court had reviewed the video from -- the dash cam video from the Huyett unit, I think that you've seen that there are at least two Mon County Sheriff's Department units present, although I think the State would concede that at the time the vehicle was

stopped no Sheriff's Department units were present. (Emphasis added.)

(A.R. 257).

During argument, the State further acknowledged the essential facts and concerns upon which Petitioner relies in this case:

[MR. NOEL]: Now, I would point out, and I think it's important to note that Sergeant Slagle radioed for any available county unit immediately -- I believe immediately upon Officer Huyett calling him for backup. So the State's position is that the ---- that Officer Huyett took an interest in this vehicle based on the two MPD BOLOs while he was in Granville city limits. He did not -- indeed, he did not attempt to stop the vehicle until approximately two and a half miles had elapsed once the vehicle was on I-79 southbound and he had backup through Sergeant Slagle. Unfortunately, I don't believe that the record is clear as to when the Mon County Sheriff's Department units arrived, although it's clear that they arrived at some point. (Emphasis added.)

[THE COURT]: I would imagine -- I'm going to give Mr. Benninger and Mr. Slagle [sic] an opportunity to say something else. They're probably going to say that Huyett should've waited until the deputies got there and let them make a stop.

[MR. NOEL]: If, in fact, we lived in a perfect world, perhaps I might ask him to do that in the future, but we don't live in a perfect world. I think that it is unfair to suggest to Officer Huyett, under the circumstances, that he should, given what was alleged within the BOLO, given what he knew at the time that he was following a white Audi A4 driving from the vicinity of Morgantown, which was the location of the alleged crime, containing multiple occupants, wearing dark clothing -- all this is consistent with the BOLO, and some or all of them alleged to be armed. I think it's unfair to ask Officer Huyett to act any differently than he did.

Now, if the law suggests otherwise, then perhaps we need to look at things differently in the future but I would agree that in a perfect world he would have waited for a state unit or a Sheriff's Department unit to actually make the stop.

(A.R. 257-258).

After Sergeant Slagle arrived at the scene of the vehicle stop, Petitioner and the other suspects were removed from his vehicle, handcuffed, interrogated at the roadside as to weapons located in the vehicle, taken into custody, placed into cruisers, and transported by Monongalia County Sheriff deputies back to the Morgantown Police Department, where they were held until each of them were subject to additional custodial interrogation. (A.R. 18-19). After three hours of delay since being handcuffed at roadside, at approximately 0139 hours, Petitioner was brought to the interrogation room and was provided and signed the Morgantown Police Department *Statement of Rights Form*, and his custodial interrogation commenced. (A.R. 305, 306).

The testimony of Morgantown Police Officer Meador, elicited by the State during the August 7, 2017 hearing, reveals that, prior to Detective Trejo commencing Petitioner's custodial interrogation, he deemed probable cause existed. He stated so in the affidavit supporting the application for the search warrant, which was "signed off on" by Magistrate Neighbors at approximately 1:30 a.m. on March 6, 2017. (A.R. 57-60, 342). This timing and sequence of events was confirmed by counsel for the State during argument presented to the Court on September 18, 2017. (A.R. 256-257).

Also prior to commencing Petitioner's custodial interrogation at the Morgantown Police Department, Detective Trejo "advised him that it would be better for him to tell the truth." The following questions and answers reveal clear evidence that significant promises of leniency were then made to Petitioner:

Q. The – what – and, again, I'm not going to play it because it's going to be in the record. What specifically do you recall promising John Skidmore during this statement that you would do for his benefit as a result of him giving a voluntary statement.

- A. I promised that I would advise the prosecutor that he was 100% cooperative and honest.
- Q. Didn't that appear to be meaningful to him, John Skidmore?
- A. I believe so. I also explained to him that I had a bunch of respect for somebody to come in and do what he did, tell the truth.

(A.R. 33). Lastly, the record cited below is replete with undisputed evidence of Petitioner's marijuana use and intoxication prior to his custodial interrogation and confession. (A.R. 126-127).

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner asserts, in summary, that:

The Circuit Court's finding that the stop of Petitioner's vehicle on I-79 was performed in concert with law enforcement personnel vested with territorial jurisdiction is clearly erroneous and has no support or basis in the record and is contrary to the representations made by the State at the September 18, 2017 hearing;

The Circuit Court's conclusion that there was an articulable reasonable suspicion and reasonable grounds for the extraterritorial *Terry* investigative stop of Petitioner's vehicle based upon the two BOLOs and Patrolman Huyett's observations of the vehicle and its occupants is not supported by the record. Specifically, the two BOLOs, under the totality of the circumstances, lacked sufficient information to establish an objective, reasonable suspicion, justifying the investigatory stop of Petitioner's vehicle.

The State admits, in its memorandum of law filed below, that the holding in *Horn* applies but ignores the constitutional implication that the stop was investigative in nature and cannot be performed by a private citizen under the "color of office" doctrine.

The prompt presentment rule was violated in this case because of the three-hour delay following Petitioner's detention at roadside and his custodial interrogation is not excusable and was intended to facilitate the extraction of a confession from him.

The Statement of Rights Form signed by Petitioner prior to his custodial interrogation failed to advise him of his absolute right to have counsel present with him as he was being questioned by Detective Trejo as required by *Miranda*.

Lastly, Petitioner's confession, waiver of his *Miranda* rights, and his voluntary statement and subsequent confession were not voluntary because of his intoxication and the meaningful promise made to him that the investigating officer would advise the prosecutor that he was one hundred percent cooperative and honest.

#### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The applicable standard of review regarding the denial of a motion to suppress evidence is stated in *State v. Lilly*, 194 W.Va. 595, 461 S.E.2d 101 (1995):

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