FILE COPY

DU HUI TILINGE



SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINI

NO. 18-0139

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

v.

JOHN RUSSELL SKIDMORE,

Defendant Below, Petitioner.



ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MONONGALIA COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA CRIMINAL ACTION NO. 17-F-184

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

SHANNON FREDERICK KISER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL W. Va. Bar Number 12286 812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor Charleston, WV 25301 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Email: Shannon, F. Kiser @wvago.gov

Counsel for Respondent

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

Thus, Petitioner engages in further tactics to undermine his confession. First, he asserts that he was too intoxicated to consent to a waiver of his rights at the time of his confession. This assertion is unsupported by any evidence within the record beyond Petitioner's own self-serving statement. Detective Trejo testified that he had no reason to believe that Petitioner was intoxicated to the point of rendering a statement involuntary. Nor did Petitioner's recorded statement show any indication that he was intoxicated. At all relevant times during the police interview, Petitioner was alert, oriented, and engaged.

Second, Petitioner attempts to utilize the prompt presentment rule to negate his confession. Between the time of the initial stop and his confession, however, only 3 1/2 hours elapsed. During this time, Petitioner was detained on-scene while awaiting transport to the Morgantown Police Department. He was not questioned while awaiting or in transit. Upon arriving at the station, Petitioner was the third individual questioned. There is no evidence that the delay was the result of any underhanded activity to force Petitioner to confess. Rather, police were simply investigating a crime after potential suspects were within the correct jurisdiction to begin questioning. The only period of time between Petitioner's arrest and his confession that is not expressly excluded under *Simmons* is insufficient for this Court to find that a violation of the prompt presentment rule occurred.

Legal precedent indicates that the circuit court below did not abuse its discretion when denying Petitioner's motion to suppress. And the court's factual findings are not clearly erroneous based upon the evidence contained within the record below. Thus, this Court should affirm Petitioner's conviction on appeal.

V.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court has previously held:

When reviewing a ruling on a motion to suppress, an appellate court should construe all facts in the light most favorable to the State, as it was the prevailing party below. Because of the highly fact-specific nature of a motion to suppress, particular deference is given to the findings of the circuit court because it had the opportunity to observe the witnesses and to hear testimony on the issues. ¹⁰⁷

¹⁰⁷ Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Lacy, 196 W. Va. 104, 468 S.E.2d 719 (1996).

Thus, "the circuit court's factual findings are reviewed for clear error." And "the action of a trial court in admitting or excluding evidence in the exercise of its discretion will not be disturbed by the appellate court unless it appears that such action amounts to an abuse of discretion." On the exercise of its discretion amounts to an abuse of discretion.

B. Officer Huyett's Stop of Petitioner Was a Lawful Felony Stop Based Upon the Information Contained in the BOLO Dispatch from MECCA.

Based upon the information contained in the BOLO dispatch from MECCA, Officer Huyett had reasonable suspicion to perform an investigatory stop outside of his jurisdiction. "A law enforcement officer acting outside of his or her territorial jurisdiction has the same authority to arrest as does a private citizen and may make an extraterritorial arrest under those circumstances in which a private citizen would be authorized to make an arrest." "A police officer acting beyond his or her territorial jurisdiction retains power as a private citizen to make an arrest when a felony has been committed and the officer has reasonable grounds to believe the person arrested has committed the crime."

This Court has further specified that an officer "may stop a vehicle to investigate if they have an articulable reasonable suspicion that the vehicle is subject to seizure or a person in the vehicle has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime." If articulable facts indicate that a weapon may be present during a stop, an officer may take protective precautions to prevent possible danger to himself or others. 113

^{108 11}

¹⁰⁹ Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Calloway, 207 W. Va. 43, 528 S.E.2d 490 (1999).

¹¹⁰ Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. State v. Gustke, 205 W. Va. 72, 516 S.E.2d 283 (1999).

¹¹¹ Syl. Pt. 15, State v. Horn, 232 W. Va. 32, 750 S.E.2d 248 (2013).

¹¹² Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Stuart, 192 W. Va. 428, 452 S.E.2d 886 (1994) overruling in part State v. Meadows, 170 W. Va. 191, 292 S.E.2d 50 (1982).

¹¹³ See Syl. Pt. 6, Lacy.

Here, Officer Huyett's stop was in direct response to a BOLO dispatch from MECCA following an armed robbery, a felony, in Morgantown, WV. Officer Huyett witnessed a white Audi A4 sedan, the same type of vehicle identified in the BOLO dispatch, carrying multiple occupants, which was also identified in the BOLO dispatch. Upon observing the vehicle (no doubt an irregular vehicle compared to domestic or less-costly imports), and knowing that the occupants could potentially be the same involved in an armed robbery, Officer Huyett wisely waited until backup was present to effectuate the stop. These facts comport with the holdings of *Gutske*, *Horn*, and *Stuart*. Thus, the circuit court's finding is neither an abuse of discretion nor based upon a clearly erroneous finding of fact.

C. Because Officer Huyett's Felony Stop Was Both Lawful and Based Upon a Reasonable Suspicion that Petitioner Committed a Felony, Petitioner Was Properly Detained at the Time of the Stop.

Moreover, Petitioner was lawfully arrested at the time of the investigatory stop, based upon Officer Huyett's reasonable suspicion that the white Audi A4 sedan was the same vehicle identified by the BOLO dispatch. If a felony has actually been committed, an officer acting outside of his jurisdiction retains arrest power. In Horn, this Court adopted Virginia case law which held that "a police officer 'acting beyond his territorial jurisdiction . . . nonetheless retain[s] power as a private citizen to make an arrest when . . . [a] felony ha[s] actually been committed and [the officer has] reasonable grounds for believing the person arrested . . . committed the crime. Thus, "the right to arrest in public without a warrant, based on probable cause that the person has or is about to commit a felony, is the general if not universal rule in this country."

¹¹⁴ Horn at 46, 750 S.E.2d at 262 (citing Allen v. Lopinsky, 81 W. Va. 13, 94 S.E. 369 (1917)).

¹¹⁵ Id. (citing Tharp v. Commonwealth, 270 S.E.2d 752 (Va. 1980)).

¹¹⁶ Id. (citing Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Howerton, 174 W. Va. 801, 329 S.E.2d 874 (1985)).

For the same reasons above, Mr. Skidmore, Mr. Swiger, and Mr. Velez were all lawfully arrested at the time of the stop. After Petitioner exited the vehicle and informed Officer Huyett that there was a gun in the car, Officer Huyett had more than sufficient evidence demonstrating probable cause that Petitioner's vehicle was the same vehicle previously identified leaving the scene of the armed robbery. After finding a rifle magazine (police did not yet know that the "rifle" was in fact an airsoft weapon) in plain view within the vehicle, police were well within their rights under *Horn* to detain Petitioner and his Co-Defendants until such time that an investigation could be completed. Applying *Horn*, the circuit court found that Officer Huyett had reasonable grounds to believe Petitioner and his Co-Defendants committed a crime, and that he therefore retained his police power outside of his territorial jurisdiction to affect a stop and arrest. Thus, the circuit court's finding is neither an abuse of discretion nor based upon a clearly erroneous finding of fact.

D. Detective Trejo's Investigation, Questioning, and Processing of Petitioner Did Not Violate the Prompt Presentment Rule.

The delay between Petitioner's arrest at approximately 10:45 P.M. on March 5, 2017, and his confession at approximately 1:30 A.M. on March 6, 2017, did not violate the prompt presentment rule. "Our prompt presentment rule contained in W. Va. Code § 62-1-5, and Rule 5(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, is triggered when an accused is placed under arrest." "Furthermore, once a defendant is in police custody with sufficient probable cause to warrant an arrest, the prompt presentment rule is also triggered." "19

¹¹⁷ AR at 288.

¹¹⁸ Syl. Pt. 8, State v. Simmons, 239 W. Va. 515, 801 S.E.2d 530 (2017) (citing Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Humphrey, 177 W. Va. 264, 351 S.E.2d 613 (1986); Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Rogers, 231 W. Va. 205, 744 S.E.2d 315 (2013)).

¹¹⁹ *Id*.

"The delay in taking a defendant to a magistrate may be a critical factor [in the totality of circumstances making a confession involuntary and hence inadmissible] where it appears that the primary purpose of the delay was to obtain a confession from the defendant." The delay between the time of the arrest or custodial interrogation and the giving of a confession is most critical for prompt presentment purposes because during this time period custodial confinement and interrogation can be used to attempt to produce a confession." Ordinarily, the delay in taking an accused who is under arrest to a magistrate after a confession has been obtained from him does not vitiate the confession under our prompt presentment rule."

Importantly, time spent by officers conducting normal policework is typically not calculated as part of the delay for purposes of determining whether a violation of the prompt presentment rules occurred. "Transporting the defendant to the police headquarters or completing normal booking, processing and paperwork must not be included in the time frame of any 'delay.'" This Court also noted that a defendant being kept at the scene for legitimate law enforcement purposes is not included in calculating delay. 124

Here, Officer Huyett initiated the stop around 10:45 P.M. ¹²⁵ Morgantown police officers arrived at the stop between 11:30 P.M. and 12:00 A.M. ¹²⁶ While they awaited the arrival of the Morgantown police, neither Officer Huyett nor the other attending police questioned Petitioner and his Co-Defendants about the crime beyond requesting information related to a protective sweep, nor pressured them to confess. Shortly after arriving at the police station, Detective Trejo

¹²⁰ Syl. Pt. 9, id. (citing Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Persinger, 169 W. Va. 121, 286 S.E.2d 261 (1982); Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Guthrie, 173 W. Va. 290, 315 S.E.2d 397 (1984)).

¹²¹ Syl. Pt. 10, id. (citing Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Wickline, 184 W. Va. 12, 399 S.E.2d 42 (1990)).

¹²² Syl. Pt. 11, *id*. (citing Syl. Pt. 4, *Humphrey*).

¹²³ Id., at 527, 801 S.E.2d at 542 (citing State v. Newcomb, 223 W. Va. 843, 679 S.E.2d 675 (2009)).

¹²⁴ *Id.* (citing *Wickline* at 17, 399 S.E.2d at 47).

¹²⁵ AR at 282.

¹²⁶ AR at 286.

began questioning the suspects at 12:17 A.M.¹²⁷ Importantly, the investigation of the armed robbery was still ongoing at this time. Police subsequently searched Petitioner's car after effectuating a lawful warrant, and Petitioner himself was questioned at approximately 1:37 A.M.¹²⁸

The facts here could not be more distinct from the facts of *DeWeese*, which Petitioner purports is a "near identical" case. ¹²⁹ In *DeWeese*, the defendant was arrested via warrant at 4:00 A.M. and held by authorities until 5:00 P.M. ¹³⁰ A State Trooper thereafter took custody of the defendant, transported him to the local detachment, and interrogated him at 8:00 P.M., *roughly sixteen hours after the initial arrest*. ¹³¹ The defendant's statement concluded at approximately 9:30 P.M., yet he was still not presented to a magistrate until approximately 10:45 A.M. on the following morning, more than twenty-four (24) hours after his arrest. ¹³² Thus, this Court found that the "facts clearly establish that the reason Mr. DeWeese was not promptly taken to a magistrate in Ritchie County was that because law enforcement officials wanted to obtain a statement from him. ¹³³ Not only is the timeframe of Petitioner's case vastly dissimilar to that of *DeWeese*, but the surrounding facts indicate that Petitioner's confession was not the result of the three (3) hour delay between the initial stop and his confession.

At the beginning of Petitioner's interview, Detective Trejo reviewed a *Miranda* rights form which Petitioner promptly waived. 134 Petitioner immediately thereafter confessed to the crime. As such, the initial stop, the detainer immediately following the stop (during which no

¹²⁷ AR at 285.

 $^{^{128}}$ *Id*.

¹²⁹ See Pet'r's Br. at 18.

¹³⁰ State v. DeWeese, 213 W. Va. 339, 343, 213 S.E.2d 786, 790 (2003).

¹³¹ Id.

 $^{^{132}}$ *Id*.

¹³³ Id. at 344-45, 582 S.E.2d at 791-92.

¹³⁴ AR at 285.

interview was conducted), and the transport of Petitioner and his Co-Defendants to the police station is expressly excluded from the calculation of delay under *Simmons*. Here, based upon the nature of the investigation, the time spent conducting interviews of other individuals, during which Petitioner was not questioned or coerced into confessing, should also fall under the definition of ordinary policework similarly excluded by *Simmons*. Petitioner's confession, which occurred shortly after questioning commenced, does not demonstrate the type of coercion necessary for a prompt presentment violation. And this Court should refrain from attributing any of the time following Petitioner's conviction to a prompt presentment violation calculation pursuant to *Simmons*. Thus, the circuit court's reliance on *Simmons* when finding that the prompt presentment rule was not violated is neither an abuse of discretion nor based upon a clearly erroneous finding of fact.

E. Petitioner's Confession to Detective Trejo Was Knowingly and Voluntarily Given, Because Petitioner Knowingly and Voluntarily Waived His *Miranda* Rights.

1. Petitioner Was Not Intoxicated at the Time of His Confession.

The evidence below does not support a finding that Petitioner was too intoxicated to voluntarily waive his *Miranda* rights. "A claim of intoxication may bear upon the voluntariness of a defendant's confession, but, unless the degree of intoxication is such that it is obvious that the defendant lacked the capacity to voluntarily and intelligently waive his rights, the confession will not be rendered inadmissible." As such, a defendant's mere claim "that he was intoxicated at the time the statements were made may have some bearing upon the reliability of the statements, [but] such claim does not preclude their admission into evidence." 136

Below, the only evidence of Petitioner's intoxication was the testimony of Petitioner himself. As observed by the circuit court, however, "the video-recorded interview of Defendant

¹³⁵ Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Hall, 174 W. Va. 599, 328 S.E.2d 206 (1985).

¹³⁶ Id. at 601, 328 S.E.2d at 208.

Skidmore shows that the Defendant appears to be coherent and competent throughout the questioning." ¹³⁷ "Det. Trejo did not detect any indication that Defendant Skidmore was intoxicated, high, or impaired." ¹³⁸ The circuit court's factual findings below are not clearly erroneous.

2. Petitioner Did Not Properly Preserve His Claim that He Was Induced into Making a Confession.

Petitioner failed to preserve his claim that he was induced into entering a confession below. "To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature of the claimed defect." Below, Petitioner did not attempt to adjudicate his coercion claim in his "Memorandum in Support of Defendant Skidmore's Motion to Suppress," in "Defendant John Russell Skidmore's Reply Memorandum," or during the subsequent September 18, 2017, hearing. In the circuit court's plea order, it specifies: 143

The Court also finds that the issues reserved for appellate review include the March 5, 2017 Granville Police Department's stop of the suspect vehicle, the resulting search of the suspect vehicle, the voluntariness of the Defendant's statement with respect to prompt presentment, inebriation, and the sufficiency/adequacy of the Morgantown Police Department's *Miranda* Waiver Form[.]

The court did not consider Petitioner's claim that he was coerced into confessing. Nor did it discuss the issue of coercion in its subsequent order denying suppression.¹⁴⁴

¹³⁷ AR at 291.

¹³⁸ Id.

¹³⁹ Syl. Pt. 10, State v. Shrewsbury, 213 W. Va. 327, 582 S.E.2d 774 (2003) (citing Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton, 196 W. Va. 208, 470 S.E.2d 162 (1996).

¹⁴⁰ See AR at 201-22.

¹⁴¹ Sée AR at 235-37.

¹⁴² See AR at 269.

¹⁴³ AR at 277.

¹⁴⁴ AR at 280-95.

Based upon the holding of *Shrewsbury*, Petitioner has failed to preserve the issue on appeal by failing to raise the matter or object to the circuit court's suppression order below. The circuit court below did not entertain the issue. This Court should similarly refuse to substantively address the matter on appellate review.

3. Assuming, arguendo, that This Court Reviews Petitioner's Claim that He Was Coerced into Confessing, Detective Trejo's "Promise" that He Would Inform the Prosecutor that Petitioner Cooperated with the Investigation Was Not an Unlawful Inducement.

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